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THE FLORIDA BAR 
 

 
In the Fee Arbitration between 
 
Chantel V. Grant, 
 Claimant,    
and 
 
Zachary Hodges, 
 Respondent. 
_______________________________________/ 
 

FINAL AWARD 
 

THIS CAUSE having come on to be heard by the Arbitrator at the final arbitration 

hearing conducted on August 23, 2022, and having been designated and appointed in accordance 

with Chapter 14 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, and by virtue of the parties’ 

Agreement to Arbitrate Application last executed by the parties for the above-styled proceeding 

on March 23, 2022,  

and witnesses having been duly sworn, and having heard and considered all of the evidence, 

testimony and arguments at said final arbitration hearing, the Arbitrator hereby finds as follows: 

A. In determining whether and to what extent any attorneys’ fees should be awarded  

to Attorney Grant, the Arbitrator considered all of the admitted evidence and testimony presented 

at the final hearing and affirmed with each of the parties that they had no further evidence to 

submit. The findings of fact from the hearing are as follows: 

a. In August, 2016, Zachary Hodges received a flyer concerning debt relief 

solutions in the mail; 

b. At that time, Hodges called the number on the flyer and was transferred to an 

attorney’s office in Boca Raton (not Ms. Grant’s firm); 
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c. Hodges e-signed a Limited Scope Legal Services Agreement with the Kevin 

Mason P.A. firm (“the Mason Legal Services Agreement”) on 8/11/2016; 

d. Hodges testified that the Legal Services Agreement was explained to him over 

the phone by a legal assistant at the Mason Firm; 

e. Hodges testified also that he substituted the debt service payments he had been 

making to his student loan creditors/servicers to pay the flat fee installment plan 

over 72 months (later amended to 69 months) set up under the Mason Legal 

Services Agreement; 

f. In addition, Hodges testified his understanding was he would never pay more 

than the flat fee amount of $22,157.00 under the Mason Legal Services 

Agreement for any services contained in that Agreement; 

g. Hodges ultimately paid only for thirty months under the Mason Legal Services 

Agreement and terminated the relationship in 2019.  The total fees paid by 

Hodges were $9592.95.   

h. On termination, the remaining fees under the Mason Legal Services Agreement 

were waived by Grant. 

i. Grant testified that she was not part of the Mason Firm at the time that Hodges 

signed the Mason Legal Services Agreement and had no knowledge of or 

involvement in the process resulting in Hodges’ execution of the Mason Legal 

Services Agreement. 

j. Grant testified she took over the Mason firm as GM Law Firm, LLC on January 

1, 2017.  She did not review or amend the existing Mason Legal Services 

Agreement that Hodges had signed. 
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k. Grant further testified she spent approximately three hours per month on 

Hodges’ matter for each of the thirty months that Hodges was a client of the 

Kevin Mason Firm and then the GM Law Firm, LLC. 

l. Grant has been approved for an hourly rate by one court she was unable to 

remember at $475.00. 

m. Grant testified that multiple paralegals worked on Hodges matter over the course 

of 30 months, and that other lawyers employed by GM Law Firm as of counsel 

or as associates were also involved in providing legal services on the Hodges 

matter.  She testified that no time records were kept showing how much time was 

tracked to his matter. 

n. Hodges testified that he spent approximately five minutes every other week by 

telephone with a variety of legal assistants to discuss the status of his matter and 

the work being done to assist him.   

o. Hodges’ testimony included his belief that the GM Law Firm was not taking any 

steps to assist him with his student loan debt.  Further, he testified he was 

instructed not to pay his creditors and to leave everything in the hands of his law 

firm, and that he was not subjected to collection calls until after he started with 

the law firm debt relief program.  He testified that a debt servicer called him and 

told him there had been no contact from the GM Law Firm for more than a year.  

At that point, Hodges decided to cancel with the GM Law Firm, as he felt GM 

Law Firm was lying to him by saying they were waiting for a response from the 

servicing company while the servicer was telling him there had been no contact 

in over a year. 
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p. Grant testified that her legal services, among other things, involved an aggressive 

approach to lenders, including informing them to cease and desist contact with 

her client, requesting and subsequently evaluating loan validation materials,  

putting lenders/servicers on notice re: the consequences of their deficient loan 

documentation for pursuing payment, and establishing additional potential  

leverage to reduce or eliminate debt by testing for violations of the FCRA and/or 

the TCPA.  In addition, she counseled clients on settlement offers and sent letters 

to credit bureaus on clients’ behalf. She testified further that if her client were 

sued by a creditor, she would handle the defense at no cost to the debtor-client 

named in the suit.   

q. Grant testified that Hodges left the debt relief program but re-joined it at a later 

date after GM Law Firm had taken over his file. 

r. Exhibits submitted in this proceeding included the Mason Legal Services 

Agreement; copies of the cease-and-desist letters sent by Grant in Hodges’ 

matter; correspondence from the servicer on Hodges’ loan; relevant excerpts 

from the CFR [16 CFR Sections 310.3 and 310.4], and a copy of the First 

Amended Complaint in Hodges v. GM Law Firm, LLC, Civil Action No. 1:20-cv-

03799-JPB (U.S. Dist. Ct. N.D. Ga) (now dismissed).   

B. The basis for Grant’s claim is that the money paid by Hodges for services were 

flat fee retainer payments, earned on receipt or were reasonable fees under the Rules Regulating 

The Florida Bar 4-1.5.  She asserts she performed sufficient legal services to justify the fees paid 

($9592.95) and that as Hodges left the debt relief program before its conclusion, there is no way 

to know whether her efforts would have ultimately been successful on his behalf.   
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C. Hodges’ defense to Grant’s claims for retaining the monies paid is that the Mason 

Legal Services Agreement was illegal and thus, void, such that any monies he paid to Grant’s 

firm or the predecessor firm Kevin Mason, P.A. should be refunded.   Hodges points out that the 

GM Law Firm is the successor in interest to Kevin Mason, P.A. and that the use of the phone to 

enroll a client in a debt relief program violates 16 CFR 310.3 and 16 CFR 310.4 [addressing 

deceptive and abusive telemarketing practices].  Additionally, the Arbitrator considered case 

precedent including  Florida Patients' Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla 1985), 

Standard Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom, 555 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1990), and Rule 4-1.5 of the 

Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, including, without limitation, the time and labor required, the 

novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, the skill requisite to perform the legal services, 

the amount in controversy for this action and the results obtained, and the fees customarily 

charged in the geographical area of Florida for similar legal services.   

B.  The Arbitrator finds that Grant failed to meet her burden of proof for an entitlement to 

attorney's fees under Florida Patients' Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla 1985), 

Standard Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom, 555 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1990) and Rule 4.1-5, Rules 

Regulating the Florida Bar, and is, therefore, denied retention of the full amount claimed.   There 

are no paralegal fees identified by Grant in her exhibits, and she testified that no time charges 

were captured for any of that time or the time of any associate or of counsel lawyers who worked 

on Hodges’ file.   The letters submitted by Grant that were sent to Hodges’ creditor and servicers 

by the GM Law Firm or the predecessor Kevin Mason Firm, are identical in form and content.  

The issues involved in the debt relief actions taken by Grant are standard practice for attacking 

creditors’ claims and do not present any novel or complex issues.  Grant did testify about the 

choice of law complexities she encountered in assessing the strengths of a settlement offer for 
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Hodges.  Further, there was testimony from Hodges that he spoke with Grant only twice over the 

course of the client relationship, both times when he made clear he was planning to cancel and 

terminate the relationship.  The Arbitrator finds that the claims of illegality regarding Hodges’ 

entry into the relationship with the Kevin Mason Firm cannot be sustained in view of Grant’s 

testimony of no involvement in that process and the lack of any adduced evidence of that 

process.  Further, the Arbitrator finds Hodges’ return to the relationship with the GM Law Firm 

undermines any implicit evidence of coercion by the GM Law Firm regarding their relationship.   

The amount of attorney’s fees and costs awarded to Hodges is 50% of the $9592.25 total 

he paid or $4796.13.   

 
It is, therefore, FINALLY AWARDED, as follows: 

1. Claimant, Chantel Grant, shall pay Respondent, Zachary Hodges the total sum of 

Four Thousand Seven Hundred Ninety-six and 13/100 Dollars ($4796.13), which shall be paid 

within thirty (30) days from the date of this Final Award.   

2. This award is in full determination of all claims, defenses and counterclaims 

submitted in this arbitration. 

3. Upon payment, an appropriate satisfaction of this award shall be executed by the 

payee upon request.  

4. This award may be enforced in accordance with Chapter 682, Florida Statutes.  
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DONE AND AWARDED in Brevard County, Florida, this 26th day of August, 2022.  

 
 
__________________________________ 
Christina Magee,  FL Qualified Arbitrator        

 
Sent on August 26, 2022 via email to:  
 
Claimant:   Chantel LaVonne Grant  
  c/o Richard Greenberg, Esq. 
  rgreenberg@rumberger.com 
 
Respondent: Zachary Hodges 
  c/o Macy Hanson, Esq. 
  macy@macyhanson.com 
 
cc: Sergio Botero, The Florida Bar 
 sbotero@floridabar.org 
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